IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

NUVEDA, LLC, A NEVADA LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY; SHANE M. Flectronically Filed TERRY, A NEVADA RESIDENT; AND JENNIFER M. GJan 04 2017 11:25 a.m. NEVADA RESIDENT, Appellants, Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

PEIMAN BADY; AND POUYA MOHAJER, Appellees.

Supreme Court Case No. 69648 District Court Case No. A-15-728510-B, Department XI (Elizabeth Gonzales)

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

ERIKA PIKE TURNER
Nevada Bar No. 6454
eturner@gtg.legal
DYLAN T. CICILIANO
Nevada Bar No. 12348
dciciliano@gtg.legal
650 White Drive, Suite 100
Las Vegas, Nevada 89119
Tel: (725) 777-3000

Fax: (725) 777-3112 Attorneys for Appellant Shane Terry

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This appeal concerns the District Court's refusal to grant an injunction. The Appellate Court therefore has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(3).

On January 13, 2016, the District Court entered its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law ("FFCL") denying Terry's Motion for Preliminary Injunction and denying the Countermotion for Preliminary Injunction filed by Appellees Pejman Bady ("Bady") and Pouya Mohajer ("Mohajer"), and entering provisional remedies pursuant to NRS 38.222. Terry filed a Notice of Appeal on January 19, 2016. (JA001775-JA001783). Subsequently, Notice of Entry of the FFCL was entered on January 27, 2016. (JA001784-JA001791). Terry filed an Amended Notice of Appeal on January 28, 2016 and a Second Amended Notice of Appeal was filed on January 29, 2016. (JA001792-JA001796 and JA001797-JA001808). The notice of appeal was timely under NRAP 4(a).

II. ROUTING STATEMENT

This case originates from Department XI of the Eighth Judicial District Court of Nevada, before the Honorable Elizabeth Gonzalez, and was assigned to Business Court pursuant to the Eighth Judicial District Court Rules. Accordingly, this matter should be assigned to the Nevada Supreme Court pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(10).

III. <u>ISSUES ON APPEAL</u>

- 1. Whether the District Court abused its discretion when construing the parties' written contract. Specifically, whether the District Court abused its discretion when it found that a relevant term of a written contract was unambiguous, but then applied the term inconsistent with its plain language.
- 2. Whether the District Court abused its discretion by refusing to enter requested injunctive relief pending resolution of arbitration.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 3, 2015, Terry, together with Co-Appellant, Jennifer Goldstein ("Goldstein"), filed a Complaint in the Business Court of the Eighth Judicial District Court, which requested declaratory and injunctive relief pending the resolution of arbitration, pursuant to NRS 38.222. (JA000001-JA000041). Terry filed the Complaint against Bady and Mohajer in his individual capacity as well as derivatively on behalf of NuVeda. (JA000002 ll. 19-22).

Simultaneously with the filing of the Complaint, Terry filed a Motion for Preliminary Injunction ("MPI") and Application for Order Shortening Time ("OST")). (JA000042-JA000136). After reassignment of the departments, the hearing on the MPI was delayed, necessitating a second Application for OST. (JA000137-JA000142). On December 14, 2015, Bady and Mohajer opposed

Terry's MPI and counter-moved for a preliminary injunction. (JA000151-JA000312).

On or about December 15, 2015, the District Court held a telephonic hearing on the MPI and Opposition to MPI and entered a Temporary Restraining Order. (JA000313-JA000315).

Beginning on December 28, 2015, and continuing on January 6, 7, and 8, 2016, the District Court held an evidentiary hearing on the countermotions for preliminary injunction. (JA00465-JA001184).

On January 13, 2016, the District Court entered its FFCL denying the MPI. (JA001787-JA001791). Notice of entry of the FFCL was entered on January 27, 2016. (JA001784-JA001791). Terry thereafter appealed the FFCL. (JA001775-JA001783, JA001792-JA001796, JA001797-JA001808).

V. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This appeal originates from the District Court's denial of injunctive relief following construction of a written contract. The Nevada Supreme Court reviews a district court order denying injunctive relief for abuse of discretion. <u>Douglas Disposal, Inc. v. Wee Haul, LLC, 123 Nev. 552, 557, 170 P.3d 508, 512 (2007).</u>
To the extent that the review involves the construction of a contract, the standard of review is *de novo*. <u>Id.</u>; <u>Farmers Ins. Exchange v. Neal, 119 Nev. 62, 64, P.3d 472, 473 (2003).</u>

VI. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

NuVeda was formed for any and all lawful purposes, including the specific purposes of lawfully cultivating, processing and/or dispensing medical marijuana in the State of Nevada. (JA001187 § 1.6). In 2014, following a rigorous application process, NuVeda obtained valuable medical marijuana establishment registration certificates to cultivate, process and dispense medical marijuana in the State of Nevada under NRS Chapter 453A's regulatory scheme. (JA00066, at ¶ 4).

Since July 2014, NuVeda has been governed by a written Operating Agreement. (JA001185-JA001212). Terry, Goldstein, Bady and Mohajer were all Managers and Voting Members of NuVeda until November 20, 2015. (JA001188 at §§ 2.2 and 2.5). Under the Operating Agreement, the parties' membership interests in NuVeda were as follows: Bady had a 46.5% interest, Mohajer had a 21% interest, Terry had a 21% interest, Goldstein had a 7% interest. (JA001211).

A. Bady and Mohajer's Membership Interest in NuVeda Was Terminated Under Section 6.2 of the Operating Agreement.

The NuVeda Operating Agreement provides that a Member's interest in NuVeda may be terminated or expulsed upon agreement of the "Disinterested Voting Members" by a vote of 60% or more of "Disinterested Voting Interests."

¹ Non-parties Joe Kennedy, Ryan Winmill and John Penders have a 1%, 1.75% and 1.75% interest, respectively. There is a dispute regarding whether these non-parties were ever vested. (JA000817 at ll. 12-21). In addition, there is a dispute regarding whether the membership percentages were re-aligned subsequent to the Operating Agreement. (JA000820 at ll. 5-14; JA000823 l. 15 – JA00824 l. 25, JA000828 at ll. 22-24). These disputes are not dispositive of the issues at hand.

(JA001196 at § 6.2). Expulsion can occur "if the expulsed Member was not acting in the best interest of [NuVeda] or was otherwise acting in a manner that was contrary to the purpose of the [NuVeda]." (<u>Id</u>.).

During 2015, Terry, Goldstein and Pantea Stevenson (outside counsel for NuVeda) discovered numerous bad acts by Bady and Mohajer that threatened NuVeda and the other Members with irreparable harm. (See JA000064 – JA000131). These bad acts included:

Usurpation of Corporate Opportunities- Bady surreptitiously obtained interest in an entity, 2113 Investors, LLC, formed for the purpose of acquiring property located at 2113 North Las Vegas Boulevard that had been approved by the City of North Las Vegas for use as a dispensary. (JA000583 l. 17-JA000584 l. 9; JA000854 II. 2-21; JA000960 II. 11-16; JA000961 II. 3-14; JA001758-JA001763). NuVeda had executed a purchase contract for the property and had already paid a deposit. (JA000584 1. 10-14; JA001127 1. 16 - JA001128 1. 4; JA001767-JA001769). Mohajer was provided the authority to close the escrow on behalf of NuVeda. (JA001757). Instead of working to close the escrow on behalf of NuVeda, Mohajer assigned the escrow to 2113 Investors, LLC on behalf of NuVeda for no consideration, resulting in NuVeda losing the deposit, having to rent the property based on an as-developed price, and paying for all of the development, which benefitted 2113 Investors, LLC, to NuVeda's detriment.

(JA000582 l. 19 - JA00586 l. 24; JA000590 ll. 18-21; JA000633 ll. 19-25; JA000634 ll. 14-19; JA000852 ll. 2-14; JA000966 ll. 4-12; JA000966 ll. 20-24). As NuVeda could not afford the lease term, 2113 Investors, LLC promptly brought a lawsuit to enforce the lease remedies against NuVeda, again benefitting 2113 Investors, LLC, in which Bady had an interest, to the detriment of NuVeda. (JA000591 ll. 16-22; JA000535 ll. 7-14).

Pledging Membership Interest and Misrepresenting Source of Funds- The government entities that issue the privilege licenses for medical marijuana establishments require transparency on source of funds and ownership of equity. See NAC 453A.532(1)(b)(3) (No false or misleading information can be provided to the State); Application for Medical Marijuana Establishment Certification dpbh.nv.gov/forms/fillableform-MMEregistrationrenewal3-17-16.pdf. Bady represented to the government that his funding came from the sale of a business; however, in fact, Bady borrowed \$600,000 from a third party, Majid Golpa, who was undisclosed as a funding source. (JA000604 l. 1 - JA000609 l. 8; JA000629 ll. 22-25; JA000679 ll. 17-25; JA001234-JA001236). Bady and Mohajer were both obligated to repay the loan so, together, they promised Mr. Golpa a 5.5% interest in NuVeda. (Id.). Ultimately, Golpa claimed ownership in NuVeda and threatened to sue NuVeda – to enforce his interest. (JA000680 ll. 1-8).

Shifting Tax Losses- Section 5.1 of the Operating Agreement requires all profits and losses be allocated among the Members in proportion to their ownership interest. Bady and Mohajer disregarded this requirement and Mohajer shifted his losses to Bady. (JA001106 l. 15 - JA001107 l. 6; JA000901 l. 24 - JA000902 l. 4; JA000903 ll. 13-25).

On November 20, 2015, Terry, Goldstein, Ryan Winmill, and John Penders voted together to terminate Bady and Mohajer's membership interests in NuVeda based on Bady and Mohajer's conduct contrary to NuVeda's best interests and its purposes as a highly-regulated participant in the medical marijuana industry. (JA000072-JA000131; JA001237; JA000494 Il. 14-18). As Bady and Mohajer engaged in the same conduct, and were therefore "interested parties," Terry, Goldstein, Ryan Winmill and John Pender's voting interests, (i.e., the "Disinterested Voting Interests") were in excess of the 60% of disinterested votes needed to expulse Bady and Mohajer under Section 6.2 of the Operating Agreement.

B. Bady and Mohajer Retaliated Against Terry and Goldstein.

On November 24, 2015, in retaliation for the November 20, 2015 resolution expulsing Bady and Mohajer's membership interest in NuVeda, Bady and Mohajer purported to vote and terminate Terry and Goldstein's interest in NuVeda,

² Members interested in the expulsion because of their own conduct were not

[&]quot;Disinterested Voting Members."

including all their membership interest, Terry's role as Chief Executive Officer and Goldstein's role as General Counsel. (JA001262-JA001267; JA001268-JA001279). The cited basis for Bady and Mohajer's vote was Terry and Goldstein's November 20, 2015 decision to vote to terminate Bady and Mohajer. (Id.).

Included in the resolution purporting to expulse Terry and Goldstein from NuVeda, Bady, Mohajer and Joe Kennedy approved a Letter of Intent to sell NuVeda's assets to CW Nevada, LLC. (Id.).

C. <u>Without Terry and Goldstein's Involvement, Bady and Mohajer Sold NuVeda's Valuable Assets.</u>

Immediately after purporting to vote out Terry and Goldstein, on November 25, 2015, Bady and Mohajer filed amended membership lists for NuVeda with the Nevada Secretary of State. (JA000069 at ¶ 25). Therein, they removed Terry and Goldstein as Managers of NuVeda from the Secretary of State's files. (JA000132-JA000136).

Then, on December 5, 2015, Bady and Mohajer, acting on behalf of NuVeda without Terry or Goldstein's involvement, entered into a formal Membership Interest Purchase Agreement with CW Nevada, LLC, which essentially sells NuVeda's valuable licenses to cultivate, process and dispense medical marijuana. (JA001306-JA001346).

The District Court ultimately concluded that the parties' attempts at expulsion of each other, if allowed to continue, would cause irreparable harm to NuVeda. (JA001790 at ¶ 19). However, the District Court refused to set aside the Membership Purchase Agreement or otherwise disturb the decision by Bady and Mohajer to transfer the NuVeda assets to CW Nevada, LLC that was without the involvement of Terry or Goldstein. (JA001790 at ¶ 20). Despite that the Membership Purchase Agreement purports to transfer interest in NuVeda owned by Terry and Goldstein, and under the Operating Agreement, Terry and Goldstein would have a right of participation at the very least (JA001188 at §2.5 and JA001196 at § 6.3), the District Court denied the MPI. (JA001791 at II. 9-14).

VII. <u>LEGAL ARGUMENT</u>

A. Section 6.1 of the Operating Agreement was erroneously construed by the District Court.

Contract interpretation is a question of law. Farmers Ins. Exch. v. Neal, 119 Nev. 62, 64, 64 P.3d 472, 473 (2003). An unambiguous contract is interpreted according to the plain and ordinary meaning of its terms. See e.g. id.; Traffic Control Servs., Inc. v. United Rentals Nw., Inc., 120 Nev. 168, 174, 87 P.3d 1054, 1058 (2004). Where the terms of the contract are clear and unambiguous, the contract "will not be rewritten." Neal, 119 Nev. at 64, 64 P.3d at 473 (citing Farmers Insurance Group v. Stonik, 110 Nev. 64, 67, 867 P.2d 389, 391 (1994)); Am. First Fed. Credit Union v. Soro, 131 Nev. Adv. Op. 73, 359 P.3d 105, 106

(2015). Accordingly, courts should not read requirements into contracts that are not evidenced by the plain meaning of that contract's terms. <u>Eagle Materials, Inc.</u> v. Stiren, 127 Nev. 1131, 373 P.3d 911 (2011) ("But his interpretation reads language into the contract that is not present and contravenes our long established jurisprudence of enforcing a contract as written.")

In pertinent part, Section 6.2 of the Operating Agreement provides that:

A Member's interest in the Company may be terminated or expulsed only upon agreement of the Disinterested Voting Members by a vote of 60% or more of Disinterested Voting Interests. Expulsion may only be made by a majority vote of 60%, or more of the Disinterested Voting Interests that the expulsed member was **not acting in the best interest of the Company** or was otherwise acting in **a manner that was contrary to the purpose of the Company**. For purposes of this provision, the "Disinterested Voting Members" shall be those Members who's membership in the Company is not then being voted upon, and "Disinterested Voting Interests" shall be the total percentage of the Ownership Interests held by the Disinterested Voting Members." (JA001195 (emphasis added)).³

Thus, any member can be expelled from NuVeda when they fail to act in the best interest of NuVeda and when greater than 60% of the **non-interested** voting interests vote for the exclusion of that member.

The District Court construed the Operating Agreement and found that Section 6.2 was not ambiguous and should be construed from its plain language

4838-0193-5679, v. 5

³ Any action that may be taken at a meeting of Voting Member, can be "taken without a meeting by written consent." (JA001192 at ¶4.3).

without parol evidence, recognizing only limited factual issues related to who was interested versus disinterested. (JA000894 ll. 1-20; JA001790 at ¶ 14).

The District Court then erroneously construed Section 6.2 of the Operating Agreement to read in a requirement that only those parties to a conspiracy could be "interested" under Section 6.2 of the Operating Agreement. In the FFCL, the District Court found that while it was shown that Mohajer and Bady "acted together in accomplishing" certain activities, "in order for a civil conspiracy to be found, two or more persons act together to accomplish an unlawful objective."5 (JA001790 at ¶ 16). The District Court compounded its error by then finding that Terry failed to demonstrate "a reasonable probability that [Bady and Mohajer] attempted to accomplish an unlawful objective." (JA001790 at ¶ 17). The District Court failed to identify or explain any support for the conclusion that Section 6.2 of the Operating Agreement required the demonstration of a conspiracy, as opposed to interestedness. There was absolutely no testimony that the Operating Agreement's interestedness provision required a conspiracy and the record is otherwise deficient of any authority for the standard imposed by the Court.

_

⁴ It is axiomatic that in order to determine the "Disinterested Voting Interests," there needs to be a determination of who is "interested."

⁵ <u>Dow Chemical Co. v. Mahlum</u>, 114 Nev. 1468, 1488, 970 P.2d 98, 111 (1998), *abrogated on other grounds*; <u>Sutherland v. Gross</u>, 105 Nev. 192, 196, 772 P.2d 1287, 1290 (1989).

The failure to show a civil conspiracy was the only cited basis for denying the MPI. (JA001787).

"Conspiracy" is not required for two members to be "interested," and therefore excluded from the "Disinterested Voting Interests" under Section 6.2. Succinctly, "if the same conduct that is the basis for voting out a member is the conduct that's subject to both of them [being voted out], you can't be disinterested." (JA001157 Il. 21-23). If Bady were permitted to evaluate Mohajer's conduct, or vice versa, he would have been evaluating his own conduct, the *non sine qua* of interestedness. Therefore, it was appropriate to exclude Bady and Mohajer's voting interests when determining if the expulsion of Bady and Mohajer met the 60% threshold. All disinterested members, aside from Joe Kennedy, voted for the expulsion. As such, there was 99% support from disinterested members voting their membership interests for the expulsion of Bady and Mohajer.

While Bady and Mohajer chose not to testify at the preliminary injunction hearing, they had Joe Kennedy testify. Joe Kennedy agreed that if the members of NuVeda were seeking to expel two members based on actions that they took together; the members would not be disinterested under the Operating Agreement. (JA00972 II. 2-10). Likewise, NuVeda's outside counsel, who was retained by Bady on behalf of NuVeda, agreed that Bady and Mohajer's voting interests were

properly excluded from the vote on their own interests. (JA001237-JA001241; JA000494 II. 14-18; JA000074-JA000075).

Concepts surrounding "interested" versus "disinterested" commonly arise in shareholder derivative actions. There, whether a demand on a board or other shareholders would be useless depends on whether the board and/or shareholders were incapable of making an independent and disinterested decision. See generally In re Amerco Derivative Litig., 127 Nev. 196, 221, 252 P.3d 681, 699 (2011). The determination of interestedness in a shareholder derivative lawsuit is relevant in determining interestedness under NuVeda's Operating Agreement.

Under prevailing law, a district court should look to whether a director is able to "exercise its independent and disinterested business judgment." In re Amerco Derivative Litig., 127 Nev. at 219, 252 P.3d 681, 698; Shoen v. SAC Holding Corp., 122 Nev. 621, 642, 137 P.3d 1171, 1185 (2006). A director cannot be impartial when he or she is "beholden to directors who would be liable" or when "a majority of the board members would be 'materially affected, either to [their] benefit or detriment, by a decision of the board, in a manner not shared by the corporation and the stockholders." Id. This Court has further recognized that when one director has close ties to another it may support interestedness. In re Amerco Derivative Litig., 127 Nev. at 220–21, 252 P.3d at 698–99. Relevant factors include, the loaning of money to buy an interest, close personal

relationships, and the manipulation of actions. <u>Id.</u>; <u>Benihana of Tokyo, Inc. v.</u> <u>Benihana, Inc.</u>, 891 A.2d 150, 175 (Del. Ch. 2005), <u>aff'd, 906 A.2d 114 (Del. 2006)</u> ("Entrenchment, self-dealing, or financial interest can indicate that a director is interested or lacks independence.")

Also relevant to the analysis of interestedness is the business judgment rule, which considers the interestedness of directors and members. Nevada codifies the business judgment rule in NRS 78.138. Montgomery v. eTrepped Technologies, LLC, 548 F.Supp.2d 1175, 1179 (D. Nev. 2008) (recognizing the application of corporate law regarding the business judgment rule to limited liability companies). The business judgment rule applies "only to directors whose conduct falls within its protections," that is only "in the context of valid interested director action, or the valid exercise of business judgment by disinterested directors in light of their fiduciary duties." Shoen v. SAC Holding Corp., 122 Nev. at 635–36, 137 P.3d at 1181 (2006); see also Nutraceutical Dev. Corp. v. Summers, 127 Nev. 1163, 373 P.3d 946 (2011); In re Trados Inc. S'holder Litig., 73 A.3d 17, 35–36 (Del. Ch. 2013) (analyzing interestedness in the context of the duty of loyalty and care).

As set forth during the evidentiary hearing, both Bady and Mohajer acted in conjunction with another when Mohajer assigned NuVeda's interest to acquire property for a dispensary to 2113 Investors, LLC, an entity owned by Bady. Mohajer assigned Bady his tax losses in violation of Section 5.1 of the Operating

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