# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

NUVEDA, LLC, A NEVADA LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY; SHANE M. TERRY, A NEVADA RESIDENT; AND JENNIFER GOLDSTEIN, A NEVADA RESIDENT,

Appellants,

vs.

PEJMAN BADY; AND POUYA MOHAJER,

Respondents.

Electronically Filed Apr 05 2017 02:23 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Supreme Court Case No. 69648

District Court Case No. A-15-728510-B

# **RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF**

NAYLOR & BRASTER John M. Naylor (NBN 5435) Jennifer L. Braster (NBN 9982) 1050 Indigo Drive, Suite 200 Las Vegas, NV 89145 (702) 420-7000

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENTS

#### NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

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

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Substantial evidence supported the District Court's denial of the motion for preliminary injunction. The denial was not an abuse of discretion.

Section 6.2 of the Operating Agreement addresses any issues concerning the vote to expel Bady and Mohajer. The terms of Section 6.2 are clear and unambiguous. Terry and Goldstein, who held a minority interest in the company, simply did not have enough votes to oust Bady or Mohajer. To get around this problem, Terry and Goldstein aggregated Bady and Mohajer's interests and voted on them together, as if they were a single member.

To justify this, Terry and Goldstein improperly read into Section 6.2 a requirement that members that are the subject of an expulsion vote are required to undergo an "interestedness" analysis. The clear and unambiguous language of Section 6.2 does not mention an "interestedness" test anywhere, and it should not be read into the operating agreement.

Terry and Goldstein also improperly read into the Operating Agreement the concept that if Bady and Mohajer were acting together, but not to the extent justifying a conspiracy, they should be lumped together for purposes of an expulsion vote. Nothing in the plain language of Section 6.2 supports this notion.

Terry and Goldstein also claim that the District Court improperly used the standard for a conspiracy when analyzing the expulsion votes. Terry and Goldstein never raised this issue before the District Court and therefore waived it.

With respect to the relief specifically sought in Terry and Goldstein's Motion, enjoining the deal with CWNevada, the District Court heard substantial evidence about the benefits of the CWNevada deal and why it was needed to save the company and why the company would fail without it. The District Court also heard substantial evidence showing that neither Terry nor Goldstein would be irreparably harmed. Therefore, the District Court's decision was supported by substantial evidence and was not an abuse of discretion. Affirming the District Court is appropriate.

#### ARGUMENT

### A. Terry and Goldstein Waived the Conspiracy Argument

Terry and Goldstein waived their argument that the District Court incorrectly applied a conspiracy requirement. Terry and Goldstein never raised this issue before the District Court. "A party may not raise a new theory for the first time on appeal which is inconsistent with or different from the one raised below." *Powers v. Powers*, 105 Nev. 514, 516, 779 P.2d 91, 92 (1989) (citation omitted). "A point not urged in the trial court unless it goes to the jurisdiction of that court, is deemed to have been waived and will not be considered on appeal." *Old Aztec Mine, Inc. v. Brown*, 97 Nev. 49, 52, 623 P.2d 981, 983 (1981) (citation omitted).

Throughout the proceedings before the District Court, Terry and Goldstein lumped Bady and Mohajer together as co-conspirators. At the beginning of the first day of the evidentiary hearing, the District Court believed that Terry and Goldstein were trying to prove Bady and Mohajer were co-conspirators:

THE COURT: Well, there's an issue . . .

THE COURT: -- as to interested parties. And part 1 of what they've argued, whether they're right or not, and I eventually may agree with them, is whether they can when they allege there is a conspiratorial act between two parties, whether those two parties are both disqualified in voting on that expulsion. That's really the allegation they've made.

They haven't said it quite like that, but that's what they mean.

(JA000479, 1l. 22 - 25; JA000450, 1l. 1 - 7). Neither Terry nor Goldstein corrected the District Court regarding what they were trying to prove.

Terry and Goldstein alleged their Complaint that they had a conspiracy claim against Bady and Mohajer. (JA000008, ¶ 37). Stevenson, the company's outside general counsel, testified that Bady and Mohajer had co-conspired. (JA000547, ll. 10-17). During their closing argument, Bady and Mohajer devoted significant time to explaining why Terry and Goldstein failed to establish that Bady and Mohajer were co-conspirators and therefore could not be lumped together for purposes of classifying them as interested parties. (JA001169, ll. 21-25; JA001170, ll. 1-23;

JA001175; ll. 19 - 25; JA001176, ll. 1 - 23). Not once during Terry and Goldstein's rebuttal argument (nor at any other time) did Terry and Goldstein argue or point out to the District Court that they need not prove the existence of a conspiracy. (JA001178, ll. 13 - 25; JA00179 ll. 1 - 25; JA001181, l. 21). During their rebuttal argument, the District Court specifically asked Terry and Goldstein what documentary evidence they had establishing a conspiracy. Rather than tell the court that a conspiracy requirement was an incorrect reading of the Operating Agreement, Terry and Goldstein pointed to two exhibits that they claimed established a conspiracy:

THE COURT: . . . Is there anything else in the evidence that's been presented to me that you can point to to [sic] show me that they were acting together on activities that would fall within the definition of a civil conspiracy?

[COUNSEL]: Exhibit 6 and Exhibit 8. Exhibit 6 is the email from Pej Bady where he apologizes to the team –

THE COURT: I've got them both. And 8 is the K-1s.

[COUNSEL]: The K-1s.

THE COURT: Okay.

[COUNSEL]: And is anything else in writing? No. You heard the testimony of Mr. Terry that he was communicating -- and Ms. Jaccarino was clearly communicating with Mr. Bady and that there were no communications with Pouya Mohajer.

THE COURT: Okay. Anything else?

[COUNSEL]: No, Your Honor.

(JA001181, ll. 2 – 21).

Terry and Goldstein were on notice that the District Court was considering the existence of a conspiracy as a key issue. Terry and Goldstein never challenged that, and they cannot do so now. *Old Aztec Mine, Inc., supra,* 97 Nev. at 52, 623 P.2d at 983.

## **B.** Denying the Preliminary Injunction Was Not an Abuse of Discretion

Whether to grant or, as in this case, deny a motion for preliminary injunction

is in the District Court's sound discretion:

Determining whether to grant or deny a preliminary injunction is within the district court's sound discretion. Review on appeal is limited to the record, and the district court's decision will not be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion or unless it is based on an erroneous legal standard. Factual determinations will be set aside only when clearly erroneous or not supported by substantial evidence, but questions of law are reviewed de novo. *University and Community College System of Nevada*, 120 Nev. 712, 721, 100 P.3d 179, 187 (2004) (citations omitted).

"Substantial evidence is that which a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion." *Tighe v. Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department*, 110 Nev. 632, 634, 877 P.2d 1032, 1034 (1994), *citing State Emp.*  Security v. Hilton Hotels, 102 Nev. 606, 608, 729 P.2d 497, 498 (1986) (internal quotation marks omitted).

# 1. Terry and Goldstein Could Not Establish the Existence of a Conspiracy

Terry and Goldstein set out to prove a conspiracy, however, they failed to do

so. Terry and Goldstein do not dispute the District Court's finding that:

- 16. In order for a civil conspiracy to be found, two or more persons act together to accomplish an unlawful objective.
- 17. While the Defendants acted together at certain times, Plaintiffs have not demonstrated a reasonable probability that Defendants attempted to accomplish an unlawful objective.

(JA001782, ¶¶ 16 − 17).

Rather, they only complain that the District Court applied the incorrect standard. As shown, they attempted to prove a conspiracy, and they failed to do so. As a result, the District Court's conclusion that no conspiracy existed was more than adequately supported by the record.

## 2. The Concept of "Interestedness" Has No Application Here

Terry and Goldstein alleged that rather than proving a conspiracy, they must prove "interestedness." The issue, however, is not whether Bady or Mohajer are interested parties. When drafting Section 6.2, Goldstein chose not to use the term "interested." Indeed, the term "interested" does not appear anywhere in the Operating Agreement. (JA001186 – JA001212). Goldstein drafted Section 6.2 of the Operating Agreement which specifically defines who were the "Disinterested Parties" and wrote it such that they were the only members entitled to vote on expulsion. The person who is being voted upon was therefore not a party who is entitled to vote.

Terry and Goldstein are trying to incorporate a new term into Section 6.2. They do not dispute that the Operating Agreement is a contract subject to the rules of contract interpretation. (Terry Opening Brief, pp. 9 - 10). Terry and Goldstein do not dispute that Section 6.2 of the Operating Agreement is clear and unambiguous. (Terry Opening Brief, pp. 9 – 11; Goldstein Opening Brief, p. 12). Therefore, as the District Court found, Section 6.2 is to be interpreted in accordance with its plain language. (JA001782, ¶ 14 ("The terms of an Operating Agreement should be given their plain meaning")). "[C]ontract interpretation is subject to independent appellate review. As a general rule, we construe unambiguous contracts and contractual covenants not to compete according to their plain language." Sheehan & Sheehan v. Nelson Malley and Co., 121 Nev. 481, 487-8, 117 P.3d 219, 223-4 (2005). A clear and unambiguous contract, such as the Operating Agreement, is to be interpreted from the language in the document. Id. No basis for Terry and Goldstein's interpretation exists in Section 6.2. They want to add a definition of and a test for "interestedness." Terry and Goldstein simply cannot read a new term into the Operating Agreement.

The real issue, and one that Terry and Goldstein never really address head-on, is whether Section 6.2 permits Bady and Mohajer to be lumped together as part of a single expulsion vote. As with the concept of "interestedness," Terry and Goldstein try to read aggregation into Section 6.2. Nowhere does the Operating Agreement, in particular Section 6.2, discuss aggregating members for the purposes of trying to expel members. On the contrary, Section 6.2 speaks in the singular when discussing a member who is subject to an expulsion vote. Section 6.2 clearly and unambiguously states that only the "Disinterested Members" may participate in a vote to expel a member. Section 6.2 clearly and unambiguously defined "Disinterested Members" as "those Members who's membership in the Company is not then being voted upon." (JA001196) (emphasis added). Section 6.2 uses the singular noun "member" over 10 separate times when referring to the person subject to an expulsion vote. (JA001196) If it was the intent of Goldstein or the parties, they would have included that language.

Section 6.2 helpfully includes an example of how this formula works:

By means of example only, if the Members sought to expel Member A, who owned a 20% Voting Interest, the Disinterested Voting Members would be all Members other than Member A, and the vote would require 60% of the 80% Disinterested Voting Interests to carry. In order to terminate a Member's interest a meeting of the Voting Members must be held in accordance with the provisions of Section 4.3. (JA001196).

The example Goldstein wrote into the Operating Agreement speaks only of expelling a single member. It says nothing about testing for "interestedness" or aggregation. Those concepts are simply not in Section 6.2 and cannot be added.

# **3.** Terry and Goldstein Failed to Prove that Bady and Mohajer Acted in Concert

Terry and Goldstein never exactly state what justified the aggregation of Bady and Mohajer's interests, other than to say such aggregation need not rise to the level of a conspiracy. Terry and Goldstein assert that Bady and Mohajer should be lumped together because they somehow acted together. (Terry Opening Brief, pp. 14-15; Goldstein Opening Brief, pp. 7 - 10). The District Court determined that the examples of Bady and Mohajer acting together did not rise to the level of aggregation: "The evidence at the evidentiary hearing shows that, while certain groups of members acted together in accomplishing activities related to the business of NuVeda, these activities did not rise to the level that would permit aggregation." (JA001782, ¶ 15). The District Court was presented with substantial evidence that these events neither caused the company harm nor created a situation where they should be considered to have acted together. Terry and Goldstein offered four events:

(a) Usurpation of Corporate Opportunity (Terry Opening Brief, pp. 14 - 15). Terry and Goldstein now claim that Bady and Mohajer acted together to usurp corporate opportunity to purchase real property related to 2113 Investors, LLC in

North Las Vegas, Nevada. (Terry Opening Brief, pp. 5–6; Goldstein Opening Brief, pp. 9 - 10). NuVeda needed the property to meet the requirements of its licenses, and was under a severe time constraint under which to acquire it. (JA000919, ll. 12 -17). Kennedy testified that NuVeda could not close on the purchase because it could not obtain financing. (JA00913, ll. 4 - 25; JA00914, ll. 1 - 6). Simply put, the bank would not make a loan secured by a medical marijuana facility. (JA000915, 11. 19 – 25; JA000916, 11. 1 – 25; JA000917, 11. 1 – 10). Kennedy had to step in to use his personal lines of credit to complete the purchase. (JA000915, ll. 19 - 25; JA000916, ll. 1 - 25; JA000917, ll. 1 - 10). He did so through a corporate vehicle called 2113 Investors, LLC. (JA000915, ll. 19 – 25; JA000916, ll. 1 – 25; JA000917, 11. 1-10). Bady was initially a member, however, he was not a member of the entity as of August 2015, well before Terry and Goldstein attempted to expel him.<sup>1</sup> (JA00918, ll. 3 – 5).

Even though 2113 Investors, LLC has title to the property, NuVeda retained an option to purchase it for the same price that 2113 Investors, LLC paid for it. (JA000921, ll. 3 - 12). The District Court heard Kennedy's analysis that Bady certainly did not take over a corporate opportunity. (JA000921, ll. 3 - 12). There was no conspiracy here. If anything, the substantial evidence demonstrated that it

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Bady retained an option to become a member if he was required to personally guarantee any financing. (JA000918, ll. 11-15).

was an attempt to get the company what it needed to meet the conditions of one of its licenses.

(b) The Loan From Majid Golpa ("Golpa") (Terry Opening Brief, p. 6; Goldstein Opening Brief, pp. 8 – 9). Kennedy testified that the loan from Golpa to Bady was personal in nature, and was not an obligation of the company. (JA000940, 11.9 - 25; JA000941, 11.1 - 7). Mohajer had no involvement, and Golpa was never given any shares in the company. (JA000912, 11.15 - 25; JA000913, 11.1 - 3). The substantial evidence presented to the District Court demonstrated that there was simply no agreement between Bady and Mohajer for wrongdoing.

(c) Shifting Tax Losses (Terry Opening Brief, p. 7; Goldstein Brief, p. 10). Terry and Goldstein alleged that the losses between Bady and Mohajer were distributed in violation of the Operating Agreement, and this this was reflected on IRS Form K-1s for the company. The District Court heard extensive testimony from Kennedy on this topic. Kennedy is an enrolled agent admitted to practice before the IRS. (JA000972, ll. 11 – 13; JA000990, l. 25; JA000991, ll. 1 – 5). As an enrolled agent, he received specialized training and is able to defend audits before the Tax Court and the United States District Court. (JA000901, ll. 3 – 15). Kennedy prepared the K-1s at issue. (JA000901, ll. 16 – 23). Kennedy testified that he allocated the losses in consultation with Bady, Mohajer, Terry, and the company's bookkeeper. (JA000902, ll. 8 – 25; JA000903, ll. 1 – 25; JA000904, l. 1). Mohajer

instructed Kennedy to prepare the K-1 such that no loss allocation were given to him. (JA000904, ll. 11 - 23). Kennedy testified that the request would not jeopardize the company. (JA000904, ll. 24 - 25, JA000905, ll. 1 - 24; JA000906, ll. 1 - 14). Simply put, the substantial evidence demonstrated that if there was any agreement, it was among Terry, Bady, Mohajer, and Kennedy, and that agreement was to take a tax position that was appropriate and necessary.

(d) Close Relationship (Terry Opening Brief, p. 15). Terry and Goldstein claimed that Bady had unusual influence over Mohajer because he loaned Mohajer money to buy an interested in NuVeda. Bady also loaned Terry \$120,000 so that Terry could purchase his interest in NuVeda. (JA000217, ¶ 8; JA00845, 11. 22 – 25; JA00846, 11. 1 – 6).

## 4. Disinterested Directors in the Context of Demand Futility Is Not Applicable Here

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